**RECEIVED**

**Dec 04 2023**

**S.C. SUPREME COURT**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Supreme Court

---

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

---

Case No. 2019-CP-22-00212  
Appellate Case No. 2023-000646

---

The Gulfstream Café, Inc. ....Appellant,

v.

Georgetown County; Georgetown County Council;  
and Steve Goggans, individually and in his official  
capacity as Georgetown County Councilmember..... Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Sean M. Foerster (SC Bar# 77466)  
Local Counsel  
ROGERS TOWNSEND LLC  
1221 Main Street, 14<sup>th</sup> Floor (29201)  
Post Office Box 100200

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S SUBSTANTIVE DUE PROCESS CLAIMS UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA AND U.S. CONSTITUTIONS?
  - a. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN APPLYING THE “SHOCKS THE CONSCIENCE” STANDARD?
  - b. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN NOT FINDING THAT THE REZONING DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A PROPERTY RIGHT?
  - c. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN NOT FINDING THE REZONING ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN FAILING TO DECLARE THE APPROVAL OF THE MAJOR AMENDMENT TO THE PD VOID AND RESPONDENT GOGGANS’ INVOLVEMENT UNLAWFUL?
- III. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S TAKINGS AND INVERSE CONDEMNATION CLAIMS UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA AND U.S. CONSTITUTIONS?
  - a. DID THE TRIAL COURT APPLY THE WRONG STANDARD TO APPELLANT’S INVERSE CONDEMNATION CLAIM?
  - b. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DETERMINING THAT A PER SE TAKING HAS NOT OCCURRED AND THAT APPELLANT HAS NOT MET THE *PENN CENTRAL* TEST?
- IV. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S PROCEDURAL DUE PROCESS CLAIMS UNDER THE SOUTH CAROLINA AND U.S. CONSTITUTIONS?
- V. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT’S CLAIM FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES AND AWARDED COSTS TO RESPONDENTS?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action relates to Appellant The Gulfstream Café, Inc.’s (“Gulfstream” or “Appellant”) challenge to the enactment of a municipal ordinance amending a Planned Development (“PD” or “PUD”) to permit construction of a building which will eviscerate Appellant’s easement rights in a shared parking lot. This case is entirely about parking and the lack thereof for two full-service dinner restaurants. Parking is a life safety issue. When too many

cars are racing after too few spaces, people get hurt and property destroyed. In the wake, businesses fail. Despite proclaiming commitment to public health and safety, Respondents approved a redevelopment plan with a parking load of 170 spaces on a parking lot that only contains 62 spaces on its best day.

There are multiple property owners that share the parking lot with 62 spaces. The easement over the parking lot calls for Gulfstream to use those spaces at night for dinner and the marina and snack bar to use the spaces during the day. Under no scenario—in fact or at law—are there enough spaces for two full-service restaurants serving dinner. No one in this case contends otherwise. Yet somehow, by hiring a sitting county council member, Respondent Goggans, to be its architect and project consultant, the applicant secured the County’s approval of rezoning, permitting redevelopment of the snack bar into a 3-story, almost 10,000 square foot restaurant and bar, which the County’s own code requires it alone to have 72 dedicated parking spaces.

Yes, the County approved the redevelopment of the applicant’s property that needs a total of 72 parking spaces itself, while the preexisting Gulfstream restaurant requires 76 spaces itself, according to the County Zoning Ordinance. And recall, the subject parking lot only contains 62 spaces in total. Respondent Goggans is either the most persuasive architect in America or his powers of persuasion had something to do with the fact that he controlled the jobs and budgets of the people evaluating his client’s rezoning applications and calculating parking requirements.

In light of this, Appellant filed a Summons and Complaint in Georgetown County on March 8, 2019. The Complaint included claims for: (1) declaratory judgment to declare the major amendment to the PD invalid, (2) violation of substantive due process under Article I, Section 3 of the South Carolina Constitution, (3) relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violation of right to substantive due process – United States Constitution, (4) violation of right to procedural

due process – Article I Section 3 South Carolina Constitution, (5) relief under 42 U.S.C. § 1983 for violation of right to procedural due process – United States Constitution, (6) violation of South Carolina’s taking clause – Article I, Section 13 of the South Carolina Constitution, (7) inverse condemnation, and (8) attorneys’ fees. (R. pp. 67–73). Appellant sought to have the major amendment declared null and void and set aside. (R. p. 73). If the trial court declined to grant that relief, Appellant sought damages in the amount of \$1,760,100, which is the loss of value to Appellant’s property which resulted from Respondents’ conduct in approving the major amendment. (R. p. 73); (R. p. 4207). Respondents filed an answer on April 11, 2019 (R. pp. 172–176), which Respondents amended on August 11, 2021 (R. pp. 177–182). By consent order, all of the individual County Councilmembers except for Respondent Goggans were dismissed from the action with prejudice. (R. p. 15).

The matter came before the trial court for a bench trial on August 29, 2022, and concluded on September 1, 2022. Following the bench trial, both parties filed post-trial briefs and post-trial reply briefs. (R. pp. 4187–4212); (R. pp. 4148–4186); (R. pp. 4222–4236); (R. pp. 4213–4221). On February 3, 2023, the trial court entered an order finding in favor of Respondents on all causes of action (the “Order”). (R. pp. 36–51). Appellant filed a motion to alter or amend the judgment (R. pp. 4248–4268), which the trial court denied on April 3, 2023. (R. p. 53). Appellant filed its Notice of Appeal on April 24, 2023. (R. pp. 4299–4300).

Respondents filed a Motion for Costs on February 13, 2023. (R. pp. 4241–4243). Appellant opposed the Motion for Costs by filing a Response on March 15, 2023. (R. pp. 4295–4298). Despite Appellant’s filing of the Notice of Appeal, on May 26, 2023, the trial court granted Respondents’ Motion for Costs. (R. pp. 55–56). Accordingly, on June 7, 2023,

Appellants filed an Amended Notice of Appeal to include the trial court’s order awarding costs to Respondents. (R. pp. 4321–4345).

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

#### **I. The History of the Marlin Quay PD and Gulfstream’s Easement.**

The Marlin Quay PD is the location of the Gulfstream Café, which has operated as a restaurant for over 30 years. (R. p. 325, lines 13–16). The Marlin Quay PD is a planned development containing several specified uses, including condominiums, a marina store, and a restaurant. (R. pp. 1180–1182). Gulfstream’s property is designated in the PD documents as a restaurant. (*Id.*). Under the PD, Gulfstream’s property can only be used as a restaurant. (R. p. 413, lines 1–5). Gulfstream has never used the property for anything other than a restaurant. (R. p. 333, lines 4–16).

The property adjacent to Gulfstream is designated in the PD documents as a parking lot and a marina store. (R. pp. 1180–1182). Gulfstream has an easement permitting it to use the parking lot adjacent to its restaurant. (R. pp. 1183–1211). Specifically, Gulfstream’s easement expressly provides that Gulfstream perpetually and currently enjoys the following rights:

It is anticipated by the parties that while they will each have joint and non-exclusive use at all times of the area covered by this easement that the **Grantor will utilize the premises primarily during the daytime regular business hours of Grantor and the Grantee will utilize the premises primarily in the evening regular business hours of Grantee.**

(R. p. 1203 (emphasis added)).

#### **II. Palmetto’s Plans for a New Building to Replace the Marina Store and Snack Bar and Respondent Goggans’ Heavy Involvement as Architect for the Project.**

The property adjacent to Gulfstream is currently owned by Palmetto Industrial Development, LLC (“Palmetto”). After purchasing the property in 2014, Palmetto demolished the building that had included the marina store and snack bar. (R. p. 420, lines 15–24). When

initially seeking approval to rebuild, Palmetto sought a minor amendment for its first set of plans for the new building (“1.0”). (R. pp. 399, 554–55).

Palmetto hired Respondent Steve Goggans (“Goggans”) and his firm, SGA Architecture, to design 1.0. (R. p. 650, lines 18–23). Goggans was a County Councilmember at the time, having been sworn into the position in 2014. (R. p. 641, lines 19–21). Despite his position as a County Councilmember, Goggans testified he was “heavily involved” with the development of the plans for 1.0 and was “heavily involved” with interfacing with the County. (R. p. 651, lines 4–9). Goggans testified he had multiple emails, phone calls, and face to face meetings with County staff, including Boyd Johnson (“Johnson”) and Holly Richardson (“Richardson”). (R. p. 651, lines 10–18). Goggans viewed Johnson and Richardson as “friends,” who were “usually helpful in [his] efforts.” (R. p. 1212).

Under Article 11 of the Zoning Ordinance, which sets forth parking requirements, if there is more than one principal use on the same premises, Article 11 requires that the total number of spaces must equal the sum of the required spaces for each use calculated separately, or stated differently, the parking requirements for each use are “stacked.” (R. pp. 1027–1028; p. 688, lines 16–20). Being a “restaurant, standard” use under Article 11, Palmetto’s new building required one parking space per 100 sq. ft. of gross floor area plus one space per 150 sq. ft. of outdoor seating area (its parking load). (R. pp. 1023–1026).

Goggans’ negotiations and interactions with County staff included negotiation of parking requirements for Palmetto’s building. (R. p. 652, lines 9–13). Goggans, Johnson, and Richardson established certain “parameters” for review of Palmetto’s building, including parking. (R. p. 652, line 17–p. 655, line 17). Those parameters included the agreement that County staff would interpret the parking requirements for 1.0 and determine the “impact” of 1.0

based on heated square footage of the building and seating count and would not consider unheated square footage. (R. p. 654, line 14–p. 655, line 1). Johnson and Richardson also decided that the parking calculations did not need to include evaluation of the parking needs of the other uses of the parking lot. (R. p. 655, lines 10–17). These amounted to massive concessions by the County in favor of Goggans and his client. Not counting heated square footage meant the new building would need fewer parking spaces. Secondly, ignoring Gulfstream’s need for parking spaces meant the new building could count all of the available spaces towards its parking requirement.

According to Goggans, these decisions resulted in “favorable outcomes” for Palmetto. (R. p. 1216). In fact, Goggans requested that Palmetto pay him an additional \$72,000 for the favorable outcomes he obtained. (R. p. 1217). The favorable outcomes included, among other things, that: (1) approval of the porch did not count against the 4600 square foot limit of the building, which Goggans noted “had to be negotiated in consideration of local parking requirements”; (2) approval for confirming the existing parking, which according to Goggans was “substandard,” would comply with zoning requirements; and (3) approval of a full second story (unconditioned), and designed for future expansion. (R. p. 1217).

As part of the scope of his representation of Palmetto, Goggans attended a Board of Zoning Appeals (“BZA”) meeting on Palmetto’s behalf. (R. p. 674, lines 23–24). As a result of that appearance, an ethics complaint was filed against Goggans and an investigation conducted by the State Ethics Commission. (R. p. 674, lines 7–16). Goggans entered into a consent order with the Ethics Commission, which found him in violation of Section 8-13-740(a) of the Ethics Code, sanctioned him with a \$1,000 fine, and issued a warning. (R. p. 674, lines 17–24).

### **III. Palmetto Files a Major Amendment to the PD.**

Then, in November 2017, Palmetto submitted a new and revised plan for redevelopment (“2.0”). It was an “Application to Amend a Planned Development” for Marlin Quay seeking a “Change of Building Location” to obtain approval of Palmetto’s plans for its new restaurant (“2.0”). (R. pp. 1220–1235). The application explained that it was “[t]o approve the plans for the proposed redevelopment of the Marlin Quay Marina Store/Restaurant operation as an approved ‘Major Change’ to the Marlin Quay Planned Development.” (R. p. 1223).

Gulfstream challenged Palmetto’s plan for 2.0 in the Circuit Court contending it violated the express terms of the easement in the action captioned The Gulfstream Café, Inc. v. J. Mark Lawhon, Individually, and Palmetto Industrial Development, LLC, C.A. No. 2016-CP-22-00961.<sup>1</sup> Gulfstream prevailed in that action, as the jury found in favor of Gulfstream on its claim for interference with its easement. (R. p. 1248). Accordingly, the Court issued a permanent injunction barring Palmetto from constructing a building on any portion of the property subject to Gulfstream’s easement. (R. p. 358, lines 7–9).

### **IV. Palmetto Seeks Another Rezoning to Redevelop the Marina.**

#### **A. The Application Requested Approval of an Unlawful Building.**

Due to the Court’s injunction, on August 27, 2018, Palmetto submitted another “Application to Amend a Planned Development” (the “Application”) for a new building (“3.0”) also requesting a “Change of Building Configuration” and a “Site Plan Amendment.” (R. pp. 1250–1261). Palmetto’s building will be open at night. (R. p. 696, lines 13–22). Palmetto

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial court erroneously concluded that Gulfstream did not challenge 2.0. Gulfstream takes issue with additional findings, but they are addressed later in this Brief. Those factual findings include the finding that: (1) Richardson and Johnson testified that in a PD, zoning regulations are guides, but not requirements; (2) repairs to 3.0 consisted of complying with flood requirements with FEMA, the ADA, and other building codes, and that 3.0 would remedy encroachment; (3) Goggans was not involved in the submission of 2.0, and (4) Goggans was not involved in the filing, voting, or approval process for 3.0.

submitted the Application even though it had been less than twelve months from the December 2017 hearing by the Planning Commission on the application for 2.0. (R. pp. 1240, 1242–1245). Since the Application sought a major change to the PD, it had to follow the same steps as a rezoning. (R. p. 396, line 22–p. 397, line 3).

If the County had objectively reviewed the Application, it would have recognized the dangers to the public health, safety, and welfare created by approving a building that will so clearly overload the parking lot. Gulfstream’s operations manager, Jef Kirk (“Kirk”), testified that there have been car accidents in the parking lot before. (R. p. 345, lines 5–21). Kirk also testified that he already has to direct traffic in the parking lot. (R. p. 345, line 22–p. 346, line 11). Multiple members of the public raised safety concerns at the public meetings for approval of 3.0. (R. pp. 1357–1359, 1366–1369). Article 11 itself states that the parking requirements, which Respondents ignored, are for purposes of “improving the public health, safety and general welfare of the community.” (R. p. 1023). Richardson and Johnson recognized that parking is a public safety and a public health issue. (R. p. 454, lines 21–22; p. 456, line 12–p. 457, line 20; p. 567, lines 1–2).

The Application sought approval of a blatantly unlawful building, a reality that Respondents willfully ignored. In reviewing the Application, when comparing 3.0 to the former marina store and snack bar to purportedly evaluate the “impact” of 3.0, the County only compared heated square footage of the buildings and entirely ignored unheated square footage. (R. p. 430, line 20–p. 431, line 12). For example, the staff report only mentions the square footage of the original building of 4,603 square feet and states that 3.0 had “less” heated square footage. (R. pp. 1317–1318). Richardson admitted that the distinction between heated and

unheated square footage is not set forth anywhere in the Zoning Ordinance. (R. p. 424, line 4–p. 425, line 1).

The County also allegedly compared seating of 110 seats in the marina store to the 110-seat limit for 3.0. (R. p. 1318). But Richardson admitted that seat count is not a metric found in the Zoning Ordinance either. (R. p. 435, lines 17–p. 436, line 1). Respondents knew that despite the seat count limit of 110, the actual occupancy limit for 3.0 was 350 people, and that people would use the unheated decks to stand and have drinks. (R. p. 597, line 23–p. 598, line 9; R. p. 593 lines 10–18). Goggans admitted that the “parameters” related to seat count and heated square footage were established during the negotiations for 1.0 and were not reevaluated for 2.0 or 3.0. (R. p. 652, line 14–p. 653, line 1; p. 666, lines 3–6; p. 671, lines 7–22).

If the County had fairly evaluated the Application, it would have recognized that the Application also violated the County’s parking regulations. Article 11 of the Zoning Ordinance sets forth the parking requirements for the County. Article 11 states that its requirements are mandatory through all zoning districts. (R. p. 1023) (“It is the intent of this section to establish standards for the provision of off-street parking facilities throughout the unincorporated area of Georgetown County.”). Gulfstream’s civil engineering expert, Mr. Robert Castles (“Castles”), testified that Article 11 did not include any exception in the parking requirements for PDs. (R. p. 696, line 23–p. 697, line 5).

Despite the clear directive under the Zoning Ordinance to follow the parking requirements, Respondents did not follow Article 11 when reviewing the Application. Article 11 sets forth the following requirements for each use that shares the parking lot:

Use	Parking Requirement	Parking Needed
Marina	One space per three wet slips, plus one space per five dry slips, plus one space per employee based on the largest shift	22 parking spaces
General retail use	Less than 5,000 sq. ft., one space per 200 sq. ft. of gross floor area. More than 5,000 sq. ft., one space per 450 sq. ft. of gross floor area	Marina store: 10 parking spaces
Restaurant, standard	One space per 100 sq. ft. of gross floor area plus one space per 150 sq. ft. of outdoor seating area	Gulfstream: 76 parking spaces Palmetto (restaurant): 62 parking spaces
Total		170 parking spaces

(R. pp. 1023–1026). Castles confirmed the above categories set forth the parking requirements applicable to Gulfstream, 3.0, and the marina. (R. p. 688, line 21–p. 691, line 17).

The undisputed evidence presented at trial shows that approval of 3.0 violated these parking requirements. Castles testified as to the parking needed for each use in the parking lot.

For the marina, Castles testified that the marina had 67 slips, so it required 22 parking spaces under Article 11 ( $67/3 = 22$ ). (R. p. 6953, lines 15–25); (R. p. 1460 (plat for marina showing 67 slips)).

For the “Restaurant, Standard” requirements, Richardson, Castles, and Johnson all agreed that gross floor area means square footage inside the four walls of the building. (R. p. 419, lines 8-19; p. 689, line 16–p. 690, line 21). Richardson conceded that gross floor area includes unheated, as well as heated, square footage. (R. p. 419, lines 13–19). Castles testified that Gulfstream had 5,150 square feet of gross floor area, so it required 51 parking spaces for its interior space ( $5,150/100 = 51$ ). (R. p. 694, lines 12-25; p. 695, lines 4–8). Castles further

testified that Gulfstream had 3,742 square feet of outdoor seating area, so it required 25 parking spaces for its outdoor seating ( $3,742/150 = 25$ ). (R. p. 695, lines 1–11). Accordingly, the total required for Gulfstream is 76 parking spaces. (R. p. 695, lines 12–14).

For 3.0, Castles testified that it had 1,966 square feet for the marina store, requiring 10 parking spaces ( $1,966/200 = 10$ ). (R. p. 692, lines 11–19). For gross floor area, Castles testified that 3.0 had 4,421 square feet, which requires 44 parking spaces ( $4,421/100 = 44$ ). (R. p. 691, line 22–p. 693, line 13). With respect to outdoor seating, Castles testified that 3.0 had 2,772 square feet of outdoor seating, resulting in the need for 18 additional spaces ( $2,772/150$ ). (R. p. 693, lines 14–19). Thus, 3.0 required 72 parking spaces under Article 11. (R. p. 693, lines 20–25).

Under Article 11, Gulfstream, the marina, and 3.0 require a total of 170 parking spaces, but only 62 spaces exist in the lot. (R. p. 696, lines 1–8). There is a shortage of **108 parking spaces** in the parking lot as a result of approval of 3.0. (R. p. 696, lines 9–12). Said another way, only 36% of the required parking is met with the approval of 3.0.

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