STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

RECEIVED

Sep 22 2023

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

S.C. SUPREME COURT

The Honorable R. Kirk Griffin, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2019-CP-22-00212

Appellate Case No. 2023-000646

The Gulfstream Café, Inc.Appellant,

v.

Georgetown County; Georgetown County Council;
And Steve Goggans, individually and in his official
Capacity as Georgetown County Councilmember Respondents.

RESPONDENTS' INITIAL BRIEF

Henrietta U. Golding, SC Bar No. 2173
Taylor K. Voegel, SC Bar No. 104770
BURR & FORMAN LLP
2411 N. Oak Street Suite 206 (29577)
Post Office Box 336
Myrtle Beach, SC 29578-0336
Phone: 843.444.1107

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

3. Interference with Investment-Backed Expectations

Without explanation as to how the circuit court allegedly erred, Appellant contends it has an investment-backed expectation to continue using sixty-two spaces at night for its restaurant.

(Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 34.) As the circuit court recognized, Appellant does have an investment-backed expectation to use the non-exclusive easement, and Ordinance 2018-40 does not interfere with that easement. (Order, Feb. 3, 2023, p. 14.)

“For government regulation to constitute a taking, the property owner must objectively demonstrate the existence [of] investment-backed expectations.” *Dunes*, 401 S.C. at 320, 737 S.E.2d at 622. “[C]ontinuation of the existing use of the property is the property owner’s ‘primary expectation’ when considering an owner’s investment-backed expectations for the property.” *Id.* at 319, 737 S.E.2d at 622 (quoting *Carolina Chloride*, 394 S.C. at 173, 714 S.E.2d at 878) (internal quotation marks omitted).

As the circuit court found and ordered, Appellant’s non-exclusive right to use the Parking Lot has not been changed by Ordinance 2018-40 because Appellant is not prohibited from using the Parking Lot, and, moreover, Appellant is not prohibited from using its property as a restaurant. *See, e.g., Braden’s Folly, LLC*, 439 S.C. at 206, 886 S.E.2d at 692 (noting property owner’s “primary expectation” of using property for vacations and rentals was not interfered with by the merger ordinance at issue). To the extent Appellant suggests the Parking Lot will be overburdened due to the passage of Ordinance 2018-40, which allows a new building with the same seating capacity as the former restaurant, Appellant’s witnesses testified that parking has long been a problem. Specifically, Kirk testified that during his time as the manager at Gulfstream Café, he directed traffic on shifts or saw customers turned away because of parking. (Tr. 152:6-16; 153:22—154:5.) In other words, according to Appellant’s own witnesses’ testimony, inadequate parking has been a problem and so contradicts the alleged investment-backed expectations Appellant claimed regarding adequate parking. Accordingly, the circuit court correctly held that this factor weighed in favor of Respondents, and Appellant did not establish a taking occurred.

IV. Appellant was not deprived of any procedural due process.

Appellant claims Palmetto's 3.0 application failed to comply with County's own rules and violated Appellant's procedural due process. "Procedural due process requires notice, the opportunity to be heard in a meaningful way, and judicial review." *Blanton v. Stathos*, 351 S.C. 534, 542, 570 S.E.2d 565, 570 (Ct. App. 2002) (citing *Grannis v. Ordean*, 234 U.S. 385 (1914)); *Kurschner*, 376 S.C. at 171, 656 S.E.2d at 350 (2008) (citing S.C. Const. art. 1, § 22; *Stono River Env't Prot. Ass'n v. S.C. Dep't of Health & Env't Control*, 305 S.C. 90, 94, 406 S.E.2d 340, 342 (1991)). The circuit court did not err in finding Appellant failed to meet its burden of proof.

Here, Appellant presented no evidence that it did not receive notice, an opportunity to be heard, or judicial review. In fact, Appellant's representatives, including employees and its attorneys, not only submitted multiple letters to various County agencies as well as Council members, but also participated at public hearings and expressed their opposition to the passage of Ordinance 2018-40 at every stage. *See Harbit*, 382 S.C. at 393-94, 675 S.E.2d at 781 (holding claimant had a meaningful opportunity to be heard because he was allowed to present arguments before the Planning Commission and City Council, and even when claimant was not personally present, his attorney appeared on his behalf). Given that Appellant actively engaged with the County Departments at every level, participated in public hearings, and received its opportunity for judicial review, Appellant's claims of lack of procedural due process are baseless. Appellant was not deprived of procedural due process.

Nonetheless, Appellant alleged several “deficiencies” with regard to procedural due process. Without conceding that any of the deficiencies alleged by Appellant are required by the state and federal constitutions, Respondents address each allegation³⁴ below:

A. The application was submitted in proper form (Section 1702.201).

The application was complete and the proper form was used. Richardson testified that the form used for the amendment was one created prepared by the Planning and Zoning Department specifically for amendments to PDs. She also identified each section in the form and testified that the sections that were not completed were not required because the applicant was not seeking a change to setback or signage. (Pl.’s Ex. 20.) Palmetto sought a site plan amendment with a change of building configuration. The section of the application dealing with site plan amendment, Section D, was completed. Submittals identified in this section were also provided with the application. While not required, Palmetto did state that revised calculations were to follow separately, and they subsequently were submitted. Thus, 3.0 was in proper form.³⁵

B. The application was submitted at least forty-five days prior to the Planning Commission meeting (Section 1702.201).

The application, in proper form, was provided at least forty-five days prior to the Planning Commission meeting as required by Section 1702.201. The Planning Commission meeting was

³⁴ Appellant appears to have abandoned its contention that the 3.0 application violated Section 1702.1, which prohibits a property owner from submitting the same application for the same parcel of property during a twelve-month period.

³⁵ Notwithstanding, Appellant maintains that failure to provide those revised plans forty-five days in advance of the Planning Commission hearing “necessarily hampered the ability of the County and the public to properly evaluate the proposal.” (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 35.) However, setting aside any lack of standing Appellant has to make such an argument, Appellant presented no testimony or other evidence that a different determination would have resulted had the building plans been received earlier than approximately a week before the Planning Commission hearing, and therefore, such point is inapposite.

scheduled for October 18, 2018. (Pl.’s Ex. 34.) Palmetto submitted the 3.0 application to the Planning and Zoning Department on August 27, 2018. (Defs.’ Ex. 10; Pl.’s Ex. 29). Therefore, the application was submitted in excess of fifty days before the Planning Commission meeting.

C. There was substantial compliance with Section 1702.206 and 1702.207 of the 2018 Zoning Ordinance.³⁶

When Palmetto submitted the 3.0 application, it delivered envelopes addressed to each property owners within 400 feet of the subject property. Section 1702.206 provides that an applicant submit letters to the Planning Commission that are addressed to each property owner within 400 feet of the subject property. On the back of this notice, there must also be a location map showing the areas to be rezoned. Letters will be placed in unsealed, stamped, and addressed envelopes ready for mailing by the Planning Commission. Section 1702.206 further provides that “a list of all property owners, as reflected by the tax records, to whom letters are addressed must accompany the application.”

According to the testimony of Richardson and Planning and Zoning Department staff member, Judy Blankenship, the Planning and Zoning Department staff does not require letters from the applicant, but rather, only envelopes because the Planning and Zoning Department prefers to provide the letter containing the Notice of Meeting as well as the map. Although an applicant does provide a list of property owners, the staff also obtains its own list from County tax records in order to ensure the correct owners are included. The tax list of the property owners affected by the 3.0 application was introduced as Plaintiff’s Exhibit 22. Richardson testified that this list was obtained from the County’s tax records by using the County’s Geographic Information System

³⁶ Respondents address this allegation without conceding Appellant has standing to challenge it, as set forth more fully in Subsection D.

(“GIS”).³⁷ Thus, this portion of the notice requirements was substantially complied with. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-760(D) (providing there can be no challenge to the adequacy of notice if there has been substantial compliance with the notice requirements of established procedures); GEORGETOWN COUNTY, S.C., ZONING ORDINANCES art. XVII, § 1702.207 (“Failure to strictly comply with the notification requirements contained in Sections 1702.206 and 1702.207 shall not render the rezoning of the property invalid.”).

D. Affected property owners received notice (Section 1702.207).

The tax map property owners’ list identifies The Gulfstream Café, Inc., Palmetto Industrial Development, LLC, and Marlin Quay Homeowners Association as property owners within 400 feet of the subject property. Appellant maintains that because the unit owners at the Marlin Quay Condominiums were not mailed a physical letter, Appellant’s procedural due process rights were violated.

Appellant did in fact receive notice from the County, yet it complains that other property owners did not receive notice in a proper form. Appellant lacks standing to complain about lack of notice to third parties who are not party to this action. *See State v. Chavis*, 261 S.C. 408, 411, 200 S.E.2d 390, 391 (1973) (“It is elementary that one has no standing to challenge the constitutionality of a statute unless *his* rights have been invaded and injuriously affected.”) (emphasis added); *Sea Pines Ass’n for Prot. of Wildlife, Inc. v. S.C. Dep’t of Nat. Res. & Cmty. Servs. Assocs., Inc.*, 345 S.C. 594, 601, 550 S.E.2d 287, 291 (2001) (citing the elements of standing, including that a plaintiff must have suffered an injury in fact and that there must be a causal connection between the injury and the conduct complained of) (citation omitted); *Oasis*

³⁷ Richardson also testified her department staff informed her a list had been provided, and Blankenship confirmed a list was likely provided. (Tr. 322:15-17; 597:20-22.)

Goodtime Emporium I, Inc. v. City of Doraville, 773 S.E.2d 728, 734 (Ga. 2015) (rejecting claimant’s argument that because it was affected by the passage of a bill, it had an interest in ensuring compliance with notice procedures and holding claimant received notice and lacked standing to attack the lack of notice to another party); *In re Single Cnty. Ditch*, 361 N.E.2d 1353, 1356 (Ohio Ct. App. 1976) (“An appellant landowner has no standing . . . to complain of lack of notice (to other landowners) . . . when the record does not support a conclusion that the appellant did not receive notice . . .”).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Appellant presented no evidence that any Marlin Quay unit owner failed to receive actual notice of the Planning Commission meeting. Because the tax map list does not identify each individual owner in the condominium project, the Notice and the Map were sent to the property management company, Surfside Realty Company, which then emailed the Notice to each unit owner at Marlin Quay. Marlin Quay unit owners, who fall within the 400 feet, were not mailed a physical letter, but rather, were emailed by the property management company. Section 1702.207 specifically states the following: “Failure to strictly comply with the notification requirements contained in Sections 1702.206 and 1702.207 shall not render the rezoning of the property invalid.”³⁸ Accordingly, proper notice was given pursuant to Section 1702.207.³⁹

³⁸ Moreover, on the issue of notice, Richardson and Blankenship testified that the Planning and Zoning Department complied with Section 1702.3 by submitting an ad containing notice of the Planning Commission hearing in not one, but two, local newspapers of general circulation fifteen days in advance of the scheduled public hearing date. (Defs.’ Exs. 13 & 14.) Richardson also testified that the Planning and Zoning Department placed a “conspicuous notice” on the affected property, which was visible from the public street that bordered the property, all in compliance with Section 1702.209. (Defs.’ Ex. 11.)

³⁹ It should also be noted that Appellant did not call one condominium unit owner to appear at trial as a witness.

V. Appellant’s challenge to Ordinance 2018-40 is barred due to its failure to challenge Ordinance 2018-03.

A. Failure to Timely Challenge

Summarily within a footnote,⁴⁰ Appellant provides it did challenge the passage of Ordinance 2018-03, contrary to the circuit court’s finding that Appellant failed to do so. (Appellant’s Initial Br., p. 7.) According to Appellant, this “challenge” was completed when it initiated litigation against Palmetto in 2016. (*Id.*) However, the 2016 case, civil action number 2016-CP-22-00961, failed to challenge the validity of Ordinance 2018-03 as required by South Carolina Code Section 6-29-760(D), but rather, challenged only Palmetto’s exclusive use of the Parking Lot during construction. Given the similarity in the passage of 2.0 and 3.0, Appellant’s failure to challenge the passage of 2.0—as well as the circuit court’s prior order—estops it from now challenging the passage of 3.0.

The linchpin of Appellant’s claims regarding the passage of Ordinance 2018-40 (3.0) is an alleged lack of parking for its patrons, resulting in loss in value to its restaurant. However, due to the passage of 2.0 in February 2018, the existing PD already permitted the replacement building to use the Parking Lot. Ordinance 2018-03, enacted in February 2018, was not challenged by Plaintiff even though that Ordinance established the PD requirements for the new building—as Appellant emphasizes throughout its brief. These same requirements continued in the 3.0 amendment enacted in January 2019. Appellant was required by state statute to challenge the February 2018 ordinance, Ordinance 2018-03, per Section 6-29-760(D), which provides:

No challenge to the adequacy of notice or challenge to the validity of a regulation or map, or amendment to it . . . may be made after sixty days after

⁴⁰ *Cf. Eaddy v. Smurfit-Stone Container Corp.*, 355 S.C. 154, 164, 584 S.E.2d 390, 396 (Ct. App. 2003) (“[C]onclusory statements made without supporting authority are deemed abandoned on appeal and therefore not preserved for [appellate] review.”) (citing *Glasscock, Inc. v. U.S. Fid. & Guar. Co.*, 348 S.C. 76, 81, 557 S.E.2d 689, 691 (Ct. App. 2001)).

the decision of the governing body if there has been substantial compliance with the notice requirements of this section or with established procedures of the governing authority or the planning commission.

Although the dimensions of the building changed somewhat from 2.0 to 3.0 in order to comply with a court order, the requirements affecting the alleged parking issue were not amended in 3.0. Therefore, Appellant's challenge to Ordinance 2018-40 because of its alleged effect on the Parking Lot is untimely.

B. Collateral Estoppel

In addition to failing to follow the procedure set forth in Section 6-29-760(D), Appellant's alleged damages are the same as those asserted in its lawsuit against Palmetto and J. Mark Lawhon, owner of Palmetto, civil action number 2016-CP-22-00961, and therefore, are barred by the doctrine of collateral estoppel.

"Collateral estoppel, also known as issue preclusion, prevents a party from relitigating an issue that was decided in a previous action, regardless of whether the claims in the first and subsequent lawsuits are the same." *Carolina Renewal, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Transp.*, 385 S.C. 550, 554, 684 S.E.2d 779, 782 (Ct. App. 2009) (citation omitted). To successfully assert collateral estoppel, a party must demonstrate that the issue in the current lawsuit was (1) actually litigated in the prior action, (2) directly determined in the prior action, and (3) necessary to support the judgment. *Id.* The mutuality of parties requirement is not necessary where "the party against whom estoppel is asserted had a full and fair opportunity to previously litigate the issues." *Id.* at 554-55, 684 S.E.2d at 782 (citation omitted) (internal quotation marks omitted). A court may refrain from applying the doctrine where justice or fairness so requires. *Id.* at 555, 684 S.E.2d at 782 (citations omitted).

In its action against Palmetto and Mr. Lawhon, Appellant alleged that those defendants had interfered with its non-exclusive easement given the construction that was commencing for the

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